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RE:  Amended Complaint (June 3, 2024) Complaint Filed with the OECRC and Against the City of 
Blaine Whatcom County, and State of Washington Department of Ecology 

 

EPA Docket:  City of Blaine, WA Clarification Meeting; EPA No. 01X-24-R10 

Complaint Charging Parties (“Complaint Parties”): 
 Senior Citizen, Blaine, WA 
 Senior Citizen, Whatcom County, WA 

 Senior Citizen Economically Disadvantaged near Retirement, Blaine, WA (Alias protected 
under the Anti-Slapp Act) 
 
Complaint Defendant Parties (“Defendant Parties”): 
1. EPA Administrator, the EPA Regional Administrator 
2. NOAA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration)  
3. State of Washington Commerce Department 
4. State of Washington Department of Ecology 
5. State of Washington Attorney General Office  
6. Whatcom County Planning Department & Supervisor 
7. City of Blaine City Administration, Blaine City Council and City Attorney 
 
November 22, 2024 
Ms. Bianca Garcia 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  
Office of External Civil Rights Compliance (OECRC)  
Mail Code 2310A 1200 Pennsylvania Ave., 
NW Washington, DC 20460   
Dear Ms. Garcia: 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to your team’s comments during the October 25, 2024 Office 
of External Civil Rights Compliance (OECRC) clarification meeting (01X-24-R10). During the meeting, 
you requested that the plaintiffs respond to the four criteria required for jurisdictional review. In 
addition, additional acts of environmental injustice have occurred involving retaliatory actions taken by 
the City of Blaine against the defendants and new claims which are documented below.  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The City of Blaine, WA is located in Whatcom County, Washington State. The violations have occurred 
within the City and Whatcom County. The Civil Rights and Age Discrimination complaints relate to 
environmental degradation along salmon-bearing, connected waters (streams, creeks, watersheds) 
that lead to an ecologically sensitive, federally and state protected Drayton Harbor, which, in turn is 
connected to international waters known as Semiahmoo Bay. Approximately 45% of Drayton Harbor is 
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months  
12. Increased hardship faced by seniors with higher utility and water bills due to insufficient 

infrastructure cost not borne by developers or city (sewage treatment, water aquifer). 
State Failures  
At the state level, the Washington Department of Ecology has failed to enforce the Clean Water Act 
and the Endangered Species Act. Additionally, there have been failures to prevent discrimination 
against citizen appeals under the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) process and to uphold citizen 
participation rights under SEPA. 
 
Culvert Case & Intent to Sue the State of Washington and Other Defendant Parties 
Separate from environmental injustice issues, the plaintiffs reference the 2018 Supreme Court decision 
in Washington v. United States, commonly known as the "Culvert Case." This ruling held that 
Washington State's failure to protect salmon habitats violated treaty obligations with Native American 
tribes. The Charging Parties claim that the Defendant Parties have similarly failed to protect salmon 
habitats within the City of Blaine and Whatcom County, infringing upon treaty rights. Consequently, a 
60-day Notice of Intent to Sue under the Clean Water Act, Section 505 (33 U.S.C. § 1365), has been 
filed or will be filed against the Defendant Parties. 
 
Violation of International Treaties and Indian Treaties 
Beyond environmental injustice issues, it is alleged that the City of Blaine, Whatcom County, and the 
State of Washington have violated international treaties with Canada, specifically the Migratory Bird 
Treaty and the Pacific Salmon Treaty, concerning Semiahmoo Bay and Drayton Harbor. These areas, 
along with their tributaries—including Dakota Creek and Drayton Harbor—are critical habitats for 
salmon and migratory birds. Violations, such as those related to the National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) at the Lighthouse Treatment Facility and the destruction and 
contamination of salmon habitats (TMDL, sediment, SSRs, etc.), exemplify breaches of these treaties. 
 
Civil Rights & Discrimination Based on Disability and Age 
Violations of civil rights, discrimination based on age and disability, including actions by the City of 
Blaine to retaliate, intimidate, oppress, discriminate and restrict public participation, freedom of 
speech, and tampering with and redaction of public records occurred within 180 days of the June 3, 
2024 filing and continue to occur. By extension, these violations have been reported extensively to the 
Whatcom County, Department of Justice, the Washington State Attorney General’s Office and 
Department of Ecology with no action taken.  
 
Request for OECRC Remedy and Injunctive Relief Against Defendant Parties 
 
While we understand that some of the Environmental Degradation issues noted in the Executive 
Summary and below may fall outside the OECRC's jurisdictional review, we believe the retaliation, 
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obfuscation, and inaction by the defendant parties in response to citizen environmental, public health, 
and civil rights concerns have necessitated this complaint. We seek relief from these actions and 
request that the OECRC take appropriate legal action within its jurisdictional authority or refer the 
matter to authorities capable of pursuing remedies against the defendant parties. 
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DISCUSSION, CLAIMS AND REQUEST FOR JURISDICATIONAL ACCEPTANCE AND 
INJUCTIVE RELIEF  
This amendment is submitted on the basis of age discrimination and potentially Civil Rights (Title VI).   
Two seniors, one with disabilities, and one near retirement experiencing financial hardship have 
experienced age discrimination by the defendants. The source of direct discrimination are the 
Washington Department of Ecology primary , with primary discrimination by the City of Blaine, and the 
City Council of Blaine. While age may not be a Title VI protected class;  the First Nation Tribes (  
Nation) are allegedly affected by the actions of the defendants and based on recent court decisions, 
fall under Title VI protections. 
 
The discrimination evidence provided is intentional, disproportionate, and disparate where the 
direction and indirect actions and policies of the State of Washington, Whatcom County and City of 
Blaine have harmed vulnerable, senior citizens and First Nation Tribes with Treaty Rights to the salmon 
and shellfish in Drayton Harbor and connected waters.  
 
To be considered a Title VI complaint with the EPA OECRC, we understand the following criteria must 
be met: 
 
1. Allegation of Discrimination: The complaint must allege discrimination based on race, color, or 

national origin, with a clear connection to Title VI. 
2. Evidence of Disproportionate Impact: The complaint must provide concrete evidence of how the 

alleged violations disproportionately affect protected groups. 
3. Recipient of EPA Funds: The complaint must be filed against an entity that receives EPA funding. 
4. Timeliness: The complaint must be submitted in writing within 180 days of the alleged 

discriminatory act. 

 
STANDING  
 
Summary of Harm 
These Defendant omissions and procedural barriers affect Tribe, senior citizens and others who 
contribute hours of time voluntarily to protect the public welfare and rights of vulnerable populations. 
These practices create economic, cultural, and environmental harm, exacerbating cumulative impacts 
on tribal resources and livelihoods. 
 
Evidence of Disproportionate Impact - Violation of First Nation Rights  
 
Semiahmoo Spit is a sacred burial ground for the Tribe, where extensive development is 
proposed. Historically the City of Blaine has a history and pattern of harm; violating Indian cultural 
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heritage, sacred burial lands and the ecology. In the next two months, the Blaine City Council intends 
to pass a text amendment that would permit the future construction of 211 high-density condos and 
parking lots on this culturally significant and ecologically sensitive location.  Despite advance warnings, 
the City has a history of desecrating heritage, including disturbing over 100 burial sites during 
sewage plant construction in the mid-1990s. A lawsuit over this led to a 2017 settlement with 2 acres 
of land transferred to the  Tribe. 
 
 
Under the Point Elliott Treaty of 1855, the retain rights to their "usual and accustomed" fishing 
areas, including Semiahmoo Bay and Drayton Harbor. 1  The landmark Boldt Decision in 1974 affirmed 
the and other tribes' rights to fish in their usual and accustomed areas alongside non-Native 
citizens, effectively granting them co-management responsibilities over these resources 
 
For salmon fishing, the Nation has a significant role in managing and harvesting salmon stocks. 
The tribe operates hatcheries and engages in various environmental restoration projects to support 
salmon populations. However, environmental degradation from fecal coliform contamination 
(California and Dakota Creeks), NPDES violations at the Lighthouse Treatment Facility and street run-
off have closed the shellfish beds and degraded salmon habitats, estuaries and eelgrass beds. Permit 
setback violations of the Shoreline Management Act and armoring of the harbor have further 
contributed further to declines in salmon populations and rare migratory birds.  
 
In 2018, the "Culvert Case"2  mandated salmon habitat restoration in creeks like Cain, Dakota and 

 
1 The Nation is a signatory of the 1855 Treaty of Point Elliot and is a federally recognized sovereign Indian Tribe 
organized pursuant to an order approved on November 13, 1947 by the Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs. An 
aboriginal right retained under the Treaty includes the immemorial custom and practice to hunt, fish, and gather within all 
usual and accustomed (U&A) grounds and stations. The Nation U&A includes the marine areas of northern Puget 
Sound from the Fraser River south to the present environs of Seattle, particularly Bellingham Bay. Freshwater fisheries 
include the river drainage systems, especially the Nooksack, emptying into the bays from Boundary Bay south to Fidalgo 
Bay. (Source:  Nation Community Plan 11.27.22). 
2 Applicability of the 2018 Culvert Case to Drayton Harbor and Connected Waters. The 2018 Culvert Case 
(Washington v. United States) has significant implications for Drayton Harbor, its tributaries, the City of Blaine’s SEPA 
determination and review process of the Department of Ecology, and enforcement of the Shoreline Management Act.   
1. Habitat Protection Obligation: The case affirmed that the state has a legal obligation to protect salmon habitats, 

including restoration of eel grass, estuarine areas, removing barriers to fish passage. This applies directly to Drayton 
Harbor and its tributaries which are critical for salmon spawning and migration.  

2. Treaty Rights Enforcement: The ruling affirms the i Tribe's position in requiring the City of Blaine, Whatcom 
County and Department of Ecology to protect and restore salmon habitats in Drayton Harbor, California Creek, Dakota 
Creek, and other connected waters. This has not been done since the City of Blaine and Department of Ecology have 
failed to take such action, including updates to the Restoration Plan City Of Blaine Shoreline Master Program Update 
December 2014.  

3. Environmental Degradation Liability: The decision implies that allowing continued environmental degradation of 
salmon-bearing waters could be considered a violation of treaty obligations. This is relevant to the pollution and 
habitat destruction issues in Drayton Harbor. 

4. Restoration Requirements: The case may require state and local authorities to take more aggressive action in restoring 
and protecting salmon habitats in Drayton Harbor and its tributaries, potentially including improved water quality 
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California, yet violations persist. The Department of Ecology has enabled omissions in SEPA 
determinations, allowing unchecked degradation of these resources. 
 
In the last 180 days, the  rights were violated in three key instances: 

1. Marina Dock Hearing (failure to test sediments for toxics). 
2. Creekside PUD submission (failure to establish 200-foot buffers for Spooner creek and 

connected watersheds ). 
3. Semiahmoo PUD Amendment (failure to comply with SEPA review and SMA)3 

 
Cumulative Impacts 
Violations of the Clean Water Act, Shoreline Management Act, and Culvert ruling persist. These 
ongoing violations have compounded harm to resources, livelihoods, and cultural heritage, 
including: 
• Habitat loss in Cain, Dakota, and California Creeks has reduced salmon populations critical to 

 fishing rights, cultural heritage, and have harmed  livelihoods  . 
• Shellfish bed contamination from fecal coliform, making harvesting unfit for human consumption 

an average of 8 months per year. 
• Procedural barriers preventing fair participation and appeal of SEPA reviews, undermining treaty 

rights. 
• Procedural barriers and omissions economically benefit developers at the expense of the  

Nation violating Title VI protections 
• Cultural harm: The destruction of burial grounds by the City of Blaine and the erosion of treaty-

protected rights directly impact heritage and self-determination. 
• Violation the rights of the Canadian Tribe (sister tribe of the on Semiahmoo 

Bay) of US Salmon Treaty obligations  
• Economic harm: Losses from reduced fishing and shellfishing opportunities are exceed $X million 

annually. 
 
Procedural Barriers 
The Nation actively participates in development reviews under the Washington State 

 
management and habitat restoration projects. 

5. Tribal Co-management: The ruling reinforces the Nation's role in co-managing these resources, potentially 
giving them more influence in decisions affecting Drayton Harbor and its connected waters. 

6. Legal Standing: The Culvert Case precedent provides stronger legal standing for the Tribe to challenge actions 
or inactions that negatively impact salmon populations in their usual and accustomed fishing areas, including Drayton 
Harbor. 

3 The City of Blaine is using outdated standards and failing to evaluate the cumulative impact of their decisions across 
multiple development projects on Drayton Harbor, connected waters and watershed (i.e., City of Blaine 2014 Shoreline 
Management Plan & Restoration). 
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Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), which parallels the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) in its 
objectives. Despite this, the Department of Ecology has enabled the City of Blaine to bypass, overlook 
applicant responses or omit critical environmental analyses required under SEPA. The City of Blaine has 
instituted systemic procedural barriers designed to exclude vulnerable populations, including the 

Nation, from meaningful participation in environmental reviews: 
• Confusing and inaccessible processes: Fee schedules for SEPA appeals are unpublished or unclear, 

limiting participation. 
• Restricted public engagement: Public comments are untimely posted, and City Council hearings are 

held behind closed doors 
• Failure to Recognize Comment:  Failure to recognize and incorporate public comment changes 
• Inadequate transparency: Federal permits and agency correspondence regarding City submissions 

are not disclosed. 
• Lack of accountability: The City and DOE routinely overlook applicant responses, fail to correct 

omitted data, and do not provide third-party or peer-reviewed evidence for staff 
recommendations. 

• Undermining intent end enforcement of environmental laws: The City of Blaine uses obfuscatory, 
conflicting RMC coding practices and changes to the Shoreline Management Plan, Critical Resource 
Areas, Critical Areas Ordinances and the Critical Aquifer Recharge Area (CARA) 

 
Additionally, the open public meetings act is not enforced by the State of Washington according to the 
OPMA AG. The only route to appeal and public participation on environmental, civil rights and public 
health issues is expensive, time consuming litigation which is not possible for vulnerable populations.  
 
Informed Decision-Making Barriers to Set Policy & Determinations 
Previous evidence submitted by Complainants demonstrates that the City of Blaine and the 
Washington Department of Ecology (DOE) have systematically neglected, misstated, failed to update, 
grandfathered outdated analyses, or omitted essential environmental analyses in SEPA determinations 
and checklists. Regulatory frameworks were either overlooked or not applied for federal laws such as 
the Clean Water Act, Endangered Species Act, and Marine Mammal Act.  

• Disproportionate burden and no recourse for the Tribe and vulnerable senior popullations  
except costly, time consuming legal action in County Superior, State or Federal Court. 

• Furthermore, the Defendants have implemented procedural barriers that disproportionately burden 
the Tribe and vulnerable populations by requiring costly legal actions in County Superior 
Courts to appeal decisions.   

• Failure to correct or respond to omitted data  

• No peer-reviewed, third-party evidence or use of best management practices (BMP)s to support staff 
recommendations  

• Failure to identify conflicts of interest, including separation of duties 

• Failure to exercise duty of care in reviewing opposing party evidence and environmental reports with 
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developer bias.  

• Failure to update planning documents and analyses to make informed decisions.  
 
Discrimination Under Title VI 
The City of Blaine has prioritized developer interests over its duty of care, creating economic harm for 
the Nation and the Canadian Tribe. This violates Title VI protections by denying 
equitable access to resources and processes. 
 
The City of Blaine and the Department of Ecology have systematically omitted environmental data 
necessary for SEPA determinations, including outdated Shoreline Management Plans and incomplete 
public hearing checklists. These omissions prevent the Nation from exercising their treaty-
protected rights and disproportionately burden them with complex appeals. The failure to enforce 
SEPA requirements compounds cumulative impacts, violating the EPA's Title VI criteria by excluding 
vulnerable populations from equitable environmental decision-making. 
 
Connection to EPA OECR Criteria  
The claims against the City of Blaine and the Washington Department of Ecology (DOE) align directly 
with the EPA OECR’s criteria for addressing discriminatory practices under Title VI and ensuring 
compliance with federal environmental laws.  
 
SEPA, which aligns with NEPA’s objectives, is a critical tool for addressing environmental justice and 
protecting vulnerable populations. The Department of Ecology, however, has failed to enforce SEPA’s 
standards, allowing procedural barriers and omissions in SEPA reviews to disproportionately harm the 

 Nation. This lack of enforcement exacerbates cumulative environmental and procedural 
inequities, contravening EPA OECR’s mission to ensure compliance with federal laws like the Clean 
Water Act and to uphold equitable access for underserved communities. 
 
The procedural barriers imposed by the Defendants—such as omitting critical environmental data, 
bypassing public comment processes, and creating complex, costly litigation pathways—constitute 
systemic discrimination. These practices disproportionately burden the Nation by limiting their 
ability to participate in environmental decision-making processes and protect treaty-protected rights 
to salmon and shellfish harvesting under the Point Elliott Treaty of 1855.  
 
Furthermore, the cumulative environmental impacts detailed in this case, including fecal coliform 
contamination, eelgrass destruction, and degradation of salmon spawning habitats, demonstrate a 
failure to enforce the Clean Water Act (CWA) and related federal laws.  
 
These omissions directly harm livelihoods, cultural heritage, and access to natural resources, 
economically benefiting developers while undermining environmental justice. The EPA’s emphasis on 
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eliminating discriminatory impacts on underserved communities and addressing cumulative harms 
necessitates intervention in this case to restore equitable processes and uphold treaty obligations. 
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Evidence of Discrimination - Violation of Senior in a Vulnerable Population 
 
I,  an 80-year-old individual with a disability under Supplemental Security Income (SSI), am 
part of a vulnerable senior population that depends heavily on local natural resources for recreation, 
mental health, and well-being. The PUD Amendment at Semiahmoo Spit and Creekside developments, 
supported by federal funding administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), has 
caused and continues to cause significant harm to my health, quality of life, and ability to participate 
meaningfully in environmental preservation. Below, I articulate the specific injuries that establish my 
standing under the Clean Water Act (CWA), State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), and related federal 
civil rights laws applicable to EPA-funded activities. 

 
Environmental Injuries 
Increased Stormwater Runoff and Contaminants 
The developments at Semiahmoo Spit and Creekside, facilitated in part by EPA-related federal projects, 
have drastically reduced tree coverage and introduced vast impervious surfaces, causing higher 
volumes of stormwater runoff. This runoff carries pollutants such as fertilizers, hydrocarbons, and 
sediments into Drayton Harbor and Dakota Creek, degrading water quality and threatening estuarine 
ecosystems. 

• Personal Observation: I have observed wildlife, including eagles and river otters, in areas now 
impacted by pollution and deforestation. The salmon recovery box culvert project near Blaine, 
funded by federal resources, highlights the complex interplay of development and 
environmental harm, which remains insufficiently addressed. 

Heat Islands and Natural Buffer Removal 
Deforestation and the removal of natural buffers have created heat islands, disrupted local 
microclimates, and increased sediment disturbance, further degrading water quality and harming 
native species. 

• Personal Impact: These changes have significantly affected my ability to enjoy recreational 
activities such as wildlife observation. 

 
Aesthetic and Recreational Injuries 
Diminished Enjoyment of Natural Beauty 
The ecological damage from these projects has reduced the aesthetic and recreational value of 
Drayton Harbor and its surrounding areas. 

• Activities Affected: My birdwatching and wildlife observation, particularly along H Street and 
Semiahmoo Spit, have been compromised by habitat destruction and human interference. 

Mental Duress and Anguish 
Witnessing the ongoing environmental degradation, particularly as someone unable to travel or access 
alternative natural areas, has caused me profound mental distress. 

• Specific Concerns: The removal of natural green spaces has heightened my anxiety about 

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)



12 

 
 
RE:  Amended Complaint (June 3, 2024) Complaint Filed with the OECRC and Against the City of 
Blaine Whatcom County, and State of Washington Department of Ecology 

 

environmental destruction and its disregard for future generations. 

 
Cumulative Impacts on Water Quality 
Multiple Upstream Developments 
Cumulative impacts from upstream developments, including those connected to EPA-supported 
projects, have worsened pollution in Dakota Creek and Drayton Harbor, violating Clean Water Act 
standards. 

• Direct Impact: This degradation has harmed sensitive wetlands and diminished my ability to 
enjoy these natural resources. 

Wetlands Destruction 
The loss of wetlands near Spooner Creek, critical to eagles and herons, demonstrates a failure to 
prioritize environmental protection in EPA-funded programs. 

• Impact on Enjoyment: I have witnessed the loss of wildlife habitats that were once central to 
my birdwatching activities. 

 
Additional Injuries: Civil Rights Violations 
Denial of Due Process 
The procedural barriers and lack of transparency in SEPA evaluations, compounded by the cost-
prohibitive nature of appeals, have marginalized my participation as a disabled senior citizen. 

• Ignored Communications: Despite my efforts to address SEPA violations with city officials, my 
communications were disregarded, violating the public participation rights protected under 
federal laws governing EPA funding. 

Economic and Personal Impacts 
The stress and harassment associated with advocating for environmental protections have resulted in 
medical expenses and further harm to my well-being. 
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To ensure  standing statement aligns with the EPA's Office of External Civil Rights Compliance 
(OECRC) criteria for age discrimination and environmental justice, I’ve updated and contextualized it based on 
the applicable legal frameworks and documents: 

 
Standing Statement for  
Introduction 
I,  a senior citizen, veteran, and part of a vulnerable population in Blaine, Washington, am 
experiencing direct and ongoing harm caused by the PUD Amendment at Semiahmoo Spit and 
Creekside developments. These federally funded projects, supported by EPA financial assistance, have 
significantly degraded my quality of life, safety, and ability to enjoy and protect natural resources that 
are vital to me and my family. Below, I articulate the specific injuries that establish my standing under 
the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, the Clean Water Act (CWA), and 
related federal environmental and civil rights laws. 

 
Environmental Injuries 
Increased Stormwater Runoff and Contaminants 
The developments have drastically reduced tree cover and increased impervious surfaces, leading to 
higher stormwater runoff volumes. This runoff contains pollutants such as hydrocarbons and fertilizers, 
which flow into Drayton Harbor and Dakota Creek, violating Clean Water Act (CWA) Section 402 and 
the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) standards. 

• Personal Observation: I have observed declining water quality, fewer salmon, and algal 
blooms—significant changes that have impacted my ability to enjoy the shoreline. 

Habitat Disruption and Wildlife Intrusions 
Deforestation has driven wildlife, including bears and coyotes, into residential areas, creating unsafe 
conditions for my family and me. 

• Impact on Safety: These disruptions pose physical dangers, particularly to my grandchildren, 
who no longer feel safe in their own yard. 

Heat Islands and Noise Pollution 
The removal of natural buffers has led to heat islands and intensified noise pollution, disrupting the 
behavior of sensitive species like salmon and migratory birds. 

• Personal Impact: I experience less enjoyment in observing wildlife due to diminished ecological 
stability and increased construction noise. 

 
Aesthetic and Recreational Injuries 
Diminished Enjoyment of Natural Beauty 
The deforestation and environmental degradation caused by these developments have impaired my 
ability to appreciate Drayton Harbor’s natural beauty. 

• Activities Affected: My beach walks, birdwatching, and forest visits have been compromised, 
depriving me of recreational and spiritual solace. 
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Mental Duress and Anguish 
As a senior citizen and veteran, the loss of serene environments that once offered mental health 
benefits, such as stress relief and forest bathing, has caused me significant distress. 

• Specific Concerns: The destruction of 25,000 trees in recent months has heightened my anxiety 
and impacted my sleep and overall well-being. 

 
Civil Rights and Procedural Violations 
Age Discrimination and Denial of Equal Access 
As a senior citizen, I face systemic barriers to participating in decision-making processes related to EPA-
funded projects. The lack of accommodation for older populations and the unsafe conditions resulting 
from these projects directly violate the Age Discrimination Act’s requirement to ensure 
nondiscrimination in federally funded programs(01-06-20-ecrco-process-…)(civil-rights-guidance-o…). 

• Ignored Communications: My attempts to address SEPA violations with city officials have been 
consistently disregarded, marginalizing my voice and concerns. 

Loss of Safety and Security 
The removal of natural vegetation has exacerbated illegal activities near my neighborhood, increasing 
my sense of vulnerability. 

• Impact on Family: My grandchildren are unable to play outdoors safely due to the influx of 
wildlife and proximity to border-related activities exacerbated by environmental destruction. 

 
Cumulative Impacts on Water Quality and Ecosystems 
Multiple Developments and Wetland Destruction 
The combined effects of developments in the Spooner Creek watershed have degraded water quality 
and eliminated habitats critical to herons, eagles, and other species(bh508-Cumulative-Impact…)
(joint_interagency_state…). 

• Direct Impact: These losses diminish my ability to enjoy the area’s biodiversity and educate my 
grandchildren about nature. 

 
Legal Violations and Request for Intervention 
These injuries implicate the Clean Water Act, SEPA, and EPA’s nondiscrimination obligations under 40 
C.F.R. Parts 5 and 7, which require recipients of federal financial assistance to prevent discriminatory 
impacts and address cumulative harms to vulnerable populations(civil-rights-guidance-o…)(roles-
complainants_reci…)(toolkit_ecrco_chapter_1…). 
 
 
Introduction 
I,  have suffered, am suffering, and will continue to suffer concrete injuries caused by the 
PUD Amendment at Semiahmoo Spit and Creekside developments, which are supported by federal 

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)



15 

 
 
RE:  Amended Complaint (June 3, 2024) Complaint Filed with the OECRC and Against the City of 
Blaine Whatcom County, and State of Washington Department of Ecology 

 

funding through EPA programs. These developments have directly harmed my ability to enjoy, protect, 
and participate in preserving critical natural resources. Below, I articulate the specific injuries that 
establish my standing under the Clean Water Act (CWA), State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), the 
Age Discrimination Act of 1975, and other environmental and civil rights laws. 

 
Environmental Injuries 
Increased Stormwater Runoff and Contaminants 
The PUD Amendment at Semiahmoo Spit and Creekside has significantly increased impervious 
surfaces, leading to higher volumes of stormwater runoff. This runoff carries pollutants like fertilizers, 
hydrocarbons, and sediments into Drayton Harbor and Dakota Creek, degrading water quality and 
threatening sensitive estuarine ecosystems. 

• Personal Observation: I have observed murkier water during paddleboarding and fewer salmon 
during migration periods, which has deeply affected my connection to the environment and 
recreation. 

• Legal Violation: These conditions violate CWA Section 402, which requires adherence to NPDES 
permit standards. 

Heat Islands and Removal of Natural Buffers 
The removal of forested areas and natural buffers has created heat islands, altered microclimates, and 
increased sediment disturbance, further degrading water quality and harming native flora and fauna. 

• Personal Impact: These changes have negatively impacted my hiking and paddleboarding 
experiences, particularly due to the loss of shaded areas and the declining health of the natural 
environment. 

Light and Noise Pollution 
Construction activities and increased occupancy have raised levels of light and noise pollution, 
disrupting sensitive species like salmon, marine mammals, and migratory birds. 

• Personal Impact: I have noticed fewer opportunities to observe undisturbed wildlife during 
beach walks, reducing my ability to enjoy the natural beauty of the area. 

 
Aesthetic and Recreational Injuries 
Diminished Enjoyment of Natural Beauty 
The ecological degradation caused by these developments has reduced my ability to appreciate the 
natural beauty of Drayton Harbor. 

• Activities Affected: Paddleboarding, jogging, wildlife observation, and beach walks have all 
been compromised by habitat loss and pollution. 

Compromised Recreational Activities 
Increased pollution levels have made water-based activities like paddleboarding less enjoyable and 
have raised concerns about exposure to pollutants like oil and heavy metals. 

• Legal Violation: These pollution levels violate CWA Section 402 due to unpermitted discharges 
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into navigable waters. 
Mental Duress and Anguish 
Witnessing the destruction of natural resources has caused me significant mental distress, anxiety, and 
a sense of helplessness in preserving the environment. 

• Specific Concerns: The loss of serene environments, which once supported my mental health, 
has greatly heightened my anxiety. 

 
Cumulative Impacts on Water Quality 
Multiple Upstream Developments 
Developments in the Spooner Creek watershed have compounded pollution levels in Dakota Creek, 
which flows into Drayton Harbor. 

• Direct Impact: This cumulative degradation diminishes my paddleboarding experiences and 
violates Clean Water Act standards. 

Wetlands Destruction 
The destruction of wetlands near Spooner Creek has reduced opportunities for eagle watching and 
heron habitats. 

• Impact on Enjoyment: These losses undermine my ability to observe and connect with local 
wildlife. 

 
Public Health Concerns 
As an individual engaging in recreational water activities, I am concerned about exposure to harmful 
contaminants in Drayton Harbor. 

• Specific Threats: Pollutants such as oil, heavy metals, and fertilizers from stormwater runoff 
pose health risks, including skin irritation and potential long-term effects from heavy metal 
exposure. 

 
Additional Injuries – Civil Rights Violations 
Harassment and Intimidation 
I have experienced harassment related to my environmental advocacy efforts. 

• Incident: A police report documents harassment by a City Council member aimed at 
discouraging my participation in public discussions about these developments. 

Denial of Due Process 
My efforts to address SEPA violations and participate in public decision-making have been consistently 
undermined. 

• Ignored Communications: My letters to City officials went unanswered. 
• Appeal Rights Denied: My SEPA appeal rights were denied without explanation. 

Economic and Personal Impacts 
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Addressing these issues has negatively impacted my personal and professional life. 
• Lost Income: Stress has reduced my business productivity. 
• Health Costs: I have incurred expenses related to stress-induced anxiety caused by ongoing 

intimidation. 

 
Legal and Procedural Framework 
The injuries I have described implicate violations of the Clean Water Act, SEPA, and the EPA’s 
nondiscrimination regulations under 40 C.F.R. Parts 5 and 7, which require federal financial assistance 
recipients to avoid discriminatory impacts on vulnerable populations. Additionally, these issues raise 
concerns under the Age Discrimination Act and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, which mandate 
nondiscrimination in federally funded programs(civil-rights-guidance-o…)(roles-complainants_reci…)
(toolkit_ecrco_chapter_1…). 
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Evidence of Discrimination  - Charging Party 
 
Criteria 1:  The City of Blaine and Washington State Department of Ecology are recipients of EPA funds 
qualifying them both under the OECRC criteria. In 2023 and 2024, Whatcom County and the City of 
Blaine received funding from the Washington State Department of Ecology (DOE) through the Clean 
Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF). 

Project Funding Description EPA Funding Source 

$192,500, City of Blaine Shellfish Restoration Project, 
Shellfish SIL (Strategic Initiative Lead) – awarded 
09.13.2023 – Active Status. 
 
https://www.ci.blaine.wa.us/DocumentCenter/View/
21319/RFQ---LPWRF-Upgrade-Studies 
 
City of Blaine Shellfish Restoration 
Project: Complete feasibility, design, and preliminary 
engineering work on five related projects directed at 
improving the overall performance of the Lighthouse 
Point Water Reclamation Facility (LPWRF). These 
actions target known issues which today lead to the 
permanent closure of 260 acres of public and Treaty 
U&A shellfish grounds in the vicinity of the plant’s 
outfall in Semiahmoo Bay and have, on occasion, 
caused the emergency closures of all commercial and 
recreational harvesting in Drayton Harbor for weeks 
at a time.  
 
This work will support ongoing efforts by the city to 
upgrade LPWRF operations to meet growth demands 
and identify, design, and complete preliminary 
engineering development on these projects in 
preparation for further funding opportunities as such 
becomes available.  

The funding source is the Shellfish SIL, which 
receives EPA Puget Sound Geographic Funds. It 
is part of  $1,021,500 total across three 
subrecipients for similar projects Although the 
Washington State Department of Health 
distributes these funds, they originate from the 
EPA and maintain their federal character. The 
Department of Health is acting as a pass-
through entity in this case. 
 
https://pugetsoundestuary.wa.gov/2023/09/13/
shellfish-sil-investment-announcement/ 
https://www.ci.blaine.wa.us/2188/Lighthouse-Point-
Water-Reclamation-Facil 
 
 
This funding arrangement meets the definition 
of a "recipient" under EPA's nondiscrimination 
regulation, which includes public entities that 
receive federal financial assistance either 
directly or through another recipient. Therefore, 
the City of Blaine qualifies as a recipient under 
the OECRC criteria and is subject to the 
associated federal civil rights obligations. 
 
Compliance Requirements: As a recipient of 
these funds, the City of Blaine is subject to 
federal civil rights obligations and other 
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Project Funding Description EPA Funding Source 

requirements associated with federal funding. 
 

The project is listed with other projects funded 
for the 2024-11-07 timeframe 

As of June 30, 2020, the CWSRF program at the State of 
WA Department of Washington received over $803 million 
in federal grants from the EPA. 
 
In 2024, Whatcom County received  $1,401,000 for  
CWSRF standard loan for wastewater facility 
improvements. 
 
 In 2024, Whatcom County received  $107, 500  in CWSRF 
grants to forgive principal for wastewater facility 
improvements.  

Eligible to receive EPA Region 10 Healthy, Resilient and 
Sustainable Communities grants. 

Primary EPA Funding Recipients table 
(Document #7) 

Receives funding through Washington State Department 
of Ecology's Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) 
program. 

Primary EPA Funding Recipients table 
(Document #7) 

Subject to Washington State Department of Ecology 
oversight as a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permit holder. 

Primary EPA Funding Recipients table 
(Document #7) 

The Port of Bellingham maintains the City of Blaine Marine 
Park Marina and submitted an application for the Boat 
Dock Marina, participated in a hearing where  

 concerns were not addressed and where  
 experienced environmental Injustice 

 
The Port of Bellingham, which serves Whatcom County, 
received $1,525,892 from the EPA's Clean Ports Program 
in 2024. This funding will be used to develop a port-wide 
energy transition action plan focusing on resiliency and 
long-term emissions reductions  

(b) (6), (b) (7

(b) (6), (b) (7
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Project Funding Description EPA Funding Source 

The Whatcom County Marine Resources Committee 
(MRC) receives ongoing funding from the EPA through 
grants administered by the Northwest Straits Commission. 
In 2022, they received $37,000 from the Puget Sound 
Partnership/EPA , and in 2023, they received $29,000 
8 
 
7 
. This funding supports the MRC's operations and various 
marine resource protection and restoration projects.  

In the City of Blaine, Washington, and its vicinity 
(Whatcom County), several connected streams to 
Drayton Harbor, including California Creek, Dakota 
Creek, and Spooner Creek, have benefited from 
CREP-funded restoration projects.  The Conservation 
Reserve Enhancement Program (CREP) is a voluntary 
initiative that pays landowners to establish riparian 
buffers along fish-bearing streams, enhancing water 
quality and wildlife habitat.  
The primary local organization for administering 
CRED is  The Whatcom County Conservation District  
Whatcom Conservation District 
https://www.whatcomcd.org/crep 

There are approximately 350 CREP contracts in 
Whatcom county and at least 15 along the tributaries 
at approximately $554.30 per acre in 2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Washington State Conservation Commission 
(WSCC) supports CREP through funding that 
includes allocations from various sources, 
including the Department of Ecology (DOE) and 
federal agencies like the USDA's Farm Service 
Agency.  The DOE receives funding from the 
EPA. WSCC funding supports various 
conservation programs and initiatives across 
Washington, including those aimed at habitat 
restoration, agricultural practices, and 
community engagement. The WSCC funds CREP 
which is locally administered by the Whatcom 
Conservation District. (WCD). WSCC also 
receives funding from the US. Forest Service, 
Department of Natural Resources.  
  
The Farm Service Agency of the U.S. Department 
of Agriculture administers the CREP program, in 
partnership with the Natural Resources 
Conservation Service and state and county 
offices of conservation districts. The structure 
was set up in Washington state in 1998. 
 
 Compliance Requirements: As a recipient of 
EPA via the DOE for riparian habitat restoration 
and other activities related to Drayton Harbor, 
Whatcom County is subject to federal civil rights 
obligations and other requirements associated 
with federal funding. 
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Criteria 4: evidence of how the alleged violations disproportionately affect protected groups 

 
Blaine has a disproportionately higher vulnerable age group compared to other similar cities and communities.    
Blaine’s senior population, comprising 19.1% of its total and exceeding the national average, 
faces heightened economic challenges with a 15.3% poverty rate—substantially above 
comparable Washington cities. These statistics highlight systemic procedural barriers that 
disproportionately affect economically disadvantaged seniors. The inability to afford legal 
representation or navigate complex regulatory processes underscores their vulnerability to 
environmental harm.  
By limiting access to justice and excluding meaningful participation, Blaine’s policies potentially 
violate EPA civil rights and environmental justice guidelines. This intersection of aging, economic 

Project Funding Description EPA Funding Source 

 
As a recipient of federal funds through channels 
like the DOE, Whatcom County is subject to 
federal civil rights obligations under Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964. This includes 
ensuring non-discrimination in programs 
receiving federal assistance.  Funding activities 
are directly related to the City of Blaine with 
riparian habitat and stream restoration of 
Dakota and Spooner Creeks which lie within the 
confines  

 

The Climate Pollution Reduction Grant (CPRG) Program, 
administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA), allocated $3 million to the Washington State 
Department of Commerce in June 2023 to develop and 
implement plans for reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
and other harmful air pollution  

The Onsite Sewage System (OSS) Management in 
Drayton Harbor Marine Recovery Area project, managed 
by the Whatcom County Health Department, received 
$120,580 in funding in 2014. This initiative evaluated 841 
OSS and collaborated with landowners to repair failing 
systems. 
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hardship, and procedural inequities substantiates the claim that Blaine’s actions create systemic 
exclusion under Title VI protections. 

1. Senior Population: Blaine's senior population (65 years and older) constitutes 19.1% of 
its total population, which is higher than the national average of 16.5%. 

2. Economic Disadvantage: Despite a median household income of $78,633, Blaine's 
poverty rate of 15.3% is notably higher than that of comparable Washington cities. This 
suggests a significant portion of the population faces economic challenges. 

Sources:  
1. U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts 
2. U.S. Census Bureau. (2024). Blaine, Washington Population 2024. World Population 

Review. https://worldpopulationreview.com/us-cities/washington/blaine 
3. Point2Homes. (n.d.). Blaine, WA Household Income, Population & 

Demographics. https://www.point2homes.com/US/Neighborhood/WA/Blaine-
Demographics.html 
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 Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies 
 
1. Submission to DOJ 
2. Submission to DOE 
3. Submission to USACE 
4. Submission to City of Blaine 
5. Hearing Examiner Meeting 
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Original Complaint file  
1. Formal Complaint Against the City of Blaine's Type II Hearing Examiner Process 
2. Violation of Environmental Justice and Civil Rights Violations 
3. Violation of EPA Guidelines on Public Participation 
4. State of WA and City of Blaine Hearing Examiner Financial Barriers to Citizens appealing 

PUD that negatively impacts drinking water supplied by CARA Watershed 
 

We are residents of the City of Blaine and Whatcom County, Washington. We believe the City of 
Blaine does not balance the interests of its citizens in protecting Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas 
(CARAs) and Critical Resource Areas (CRAs) that ensure resilience, sustainability and safe 
affordable drinking water for our community and others served by our water supply. The City is 
discriminating against low, fixed-income and disadvantaged citizens by making it impossible for 
citizens to comment, modify or appeal development plans that endanger our community’s 
public health, welfare and safety. The City of Blaine has consistently failed to incorporate citizen 
comments in modifying its development and Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) plans 
(extensive documentation of evidence over the past 4 years from 300 citizens available). 
The City of Blaine PUD hearing examiner process is fundamentally flawed, resulting in 
environmental injustice and discriminatory outcomes. It should be replaced with a more 
equitable, community-centered approach immediately. 
We hereby submit this formal complaint against the City of Blaine's Hearing Examiner 
Process for Type II hearings and proposed Amendments to BMC 17 Land Use and 
Development sections 17.06, 17.60, 17.64, and 17.68 (“the Amendments”). These 
Amendments, if enacted, will drastically alter the city's land use and permit approval 
processes, concentrating authority with the conflicted City of Blaine planning department 
(dba Community Development Services) which indirectly controls a city-appointed and 
paid  Hearing Examiner who  works  at  the behest of  city interests. 

 
The current Hearing Examiner Process for Type II hearings severely curtails public 
participation. It eliminates citizen oversight of public health safety a drinking water aquifer 
that serves up to 12,000 residents and surface water-connected streams protected under 
the Clean Water Act (Shoreline Management Act). 
The conflicted City of Blaine Community Development Services [“CDS” or Blaine City 
Planning Department] neither has the capability, capacity, nor intent to balance the needs 
of its citizens, including protecting our drinking water supply with planned, sustainable 
growth. Greater citizen oversight of CDS planning functions is required, not centralization 
of CDS authority with these proposed Amendment changes and the current flawed Type II 
hearing process. 
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We are discriminated against, since appeals of hearing examiner decisions require 
extensive legal adjudication of citizen resources, time and money, such as the Growth 
Management Hearings or filings in Superior Court. The current Type II Hearing Examiner 
process and the proposed Amendment violate our state Constitutional rights, and federal 
Civil Rights and have led to the asymmetrical concentration of developer interests that 
threaten public water supply and safety in the CARA. 
 
About Us 
We are a diverse coalition of Blaine and Whatcom County, Washington State residents who 
support sustainable growth but have serious concerns about the multiple PUD 
developments in critical aquifer resource areas. Our aim is not to oppose all development, 
but to ensure the City of Blaine thoughtfully plans for expansion in a way that safeguards 
the drinking water aquifer and wellhead protection areas. 
I. Introduction 

A. Factual Background 
The City of Blaine, on May 20, 2024, initiated a process to amend its BMC 17 to streamline 
the permit approval process. The proposed changes shift the responsibility for reviewing 
and approving long subdivisions, binding site plans, and planned unit developments (PUDs) 
from the Planning Commission to the Hearing Examiner. Any citizen appeals require 
expensive litigation in Superior Court or the Growth Management Board. The process is 
fundamentally discriminatory and shuts off public oversight of vital public concerns such as 
clean, safe and sufficient drinking water and aquifer protection. Part 1 table below shows 
the City of Blaine hearing types. The Citizen Oversight column shows the changes under the 
Amendment as well as the level of citizen oversight and ability to modify potentially harmful 
environmental activities, followed by the Citizen appeal vehicle. This table is completed to 
the best of our knowledge from the City of Blaine published website content. 

Part 1 – Minimal Citizen Participation in City PUD Decisions 
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An analysis of other Washington state cities (Vancouver, Kennewick, Marysville, Lacey, 
Pullman, SeaTac, Sunnyside, Bellingham) 



29 

 
 
RE:  Amended Complaint (June 3, 2024) Complaint Filed with the OECRC and Against the City of 
Blaine Whatcom County, and State of Washington Department of Ecology 

 

showed that cities use a Planning Commission for major project reviews, with the Hearing 
Examiner typically handling variances and appeals (Appendix B). Blaine's approach aims to 
undermine citizen oversight by centralizing more decision-making authority with the 
Hearing Examiner. 
Undermining Environmental Review and SEPA: The proposed changes raise serious 
concerns about the adequacy of environmental review under the State Environmental 
Policy Act (SEPA). 
Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 197-11: The proposed changes could violate SEPA 
regulations by limiting the scope and depth of environmental analysis, potentially 
overlooking significant adverse impacts on water quality, supply, and open space. 
WAC 43.21C: The proposed changes could undermine the public's right to appeal SEPA 
decisions, further limiting citizen participation and oversight of development projects. 

B. City of Blaine SEPA and Public Comment Record 
The City of Blaine Community Development Services department (CDS) has a failed track 
record for balancing citizen interests for protecting the public drinking water supply with 
rapid development in CARA watershed areas (East Maple Ridge, Zone Text Amendment, 
Mott Hill, Creekside – formerly East Harbor Hills). The City of Blaine has a conflicted SEPA 
agency that does not have separation of duties, adequate third-party oversight or 
adherence to the Department of Ecology, Environmental Protection Agency, Department 
of Health and Army Corps of Engineers standards and best practices for SEPA 
determinations. Currently, CDS makes SEPA determinations of DNS or MDNS without 
submission of completed environmental checklists or adequate best practices reviewof 
PUD applications. This includes, but is not limitedto insufficient, incomplete, biased or 
substandard submission of PUD applications for wetland reports, geo- hydrology reports, 
water treatment capacity and water capacity, stormwater pond contamination of drinking 
water areas, impact on drinking water wellhead protection areas and post-development 
monitoring of pesticide, fertilizer, chemical contamination to water aquifer areas in 
developed CARA areas (East Maple Ridge). 
The examples and evidence of our 2,000 hours of citizen investigationare significant and 
have been previously submitted to several organizations with a running dossier of violations 
and non- compliance with Department of Ecology (DOE), Department of Health (DOH) and 
US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) including but not limitedto the Zoning text 
amendment for a CARA watershed area, East Maple Ridge, Mott’s Hill Landing, East Harbor 
Hills (now Creekside) among others. In addition, a major development of the city’s drinking 
water area, called Creekside will be submitted by the developer to CDS under Type II – HE 
Hearing this week. Under the new Amendment, Creekside, a CARA development, located 1 
mile from major wellhead protection areas will be built on top of wetlands and the aquifer 
without any detailed citizen oversight, responses to comments or contractual assurances 
to protect our drinking water supply. 
The City Planning Commission with appointed citizens, no longer has veto power, and 
functions in an advisory, policy role. It includes citizens selected by the mayor and city 
council. The Planning Commission was stripped of its oversight & veto powers, on 
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November 22, 2021, by the City Attorney and City Planning Department (City Council 
Ordinance 21-2970, which amended Chapters 2.56, 2.58, and Title 17 of the Blaine 
Municipal Code to designate the Hearing Examiner to hear quasi-judicial land use matters). 
 
Theoretically, the Hearing Examiner is a quasi-judicial officer bound by rules of evidence 
and procedure. However, since the Hearing Examiner's services are paid for by the City, the 
HE’s decisions can be biased. For example, in one hearing examiner appeal, citizens 
documented long- standing conflicts of interest with the Hearing Examiner. This examiner 
was recused due to former employment and representation as the city prosecuting 
attorney. Today, the City of Blaine continues to pay for Hearing Examiner Services directly. 
The City of Blaine has consistently violatedits Growth Management Plan (Growth Management 
Act) and Shoreline Management Act (Clean Water Act). The City operates without a Code 
of Ethics, consistently violates the state Open Public Meetings Act (OPMA since there is no 
enforcement mechanism in the state of Washington), city council members vote with 
conflicts of interest and do not recuse themselves (Zoning text amendment for high density 
of development on the city’s drinking water aquifer (CARA- Critical Aquifer Recharge Area). 
Basedon the behaviors, patterns, dealingswith developers and recordof the City of Blaine 
Planning Department, we contend that the Type II Hearing Examiner process andthese 
Amendment changes proposed by CDS constitute a systemic effort to prioritize developer 
interests over the well-being of the community. With these changes we cannot protect the 
CARA watershed for drinking water resources, the tree canopy for vital hydrological cycles, 
reduced carbon emissions, heat islands and street and stormwater contaminants in vital 
salmon resources that spawn in connected streams from the CARA watershed (Spooner 
Creek, Creekside). 
II. Claim 1 Against the City of Blaine BMC Amendment: City of Blaine CDS, 

Planning Commission and City Council Failure to Follow Obligations under the 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine (RCW 42.36) 

The Appearance of Fairness Doctrine applies to quasi-judicial actions of local decision-
making bodies, including actions by the Hearing Examiner, planning commissions, and city 
councils when they determine the legal rights, duties, or privileges of specific parties in a 
hearing or other contested case proceeding (RCW 42.36.010). The proposed Amendments 
by the City of Blaine fall under this category as they involve decisions on long subdivisions, 
binding site plans, and planned unit developments (PUDs), which are quasi-judicial. 
However, The city of Blaine does not have a fair and open public hearing process. During 
the zoning text amendment for example, City Council members refusedto recuse 
themselves fromconflicts of interest andstoodto benefit from the PUD developments. 
Furthermore, the lack of a published Code of Ethics or Duty of Care in the City of Blaine 
exacerbates these concerns, as seen in the un-recused votes of council members with 
conflicts of interest on crucial matters like the East Maple Ridge PUD and the Zone Text 
amendment. 
1. Procedural Fairness and Impartiality. The proposed Amendments do not follow the 

Appearance of Fairness Doctrine. The city of Blaine has the appearance of bias and 



31 

 
 
RE:  Amended Complaint (June 3, 2024) Complaint Filed with the OECRC and Against the City of 
Blaine Whatcom County, and State of Washington Department of Ecology 

 

conflict of interest that invalidates due process of SEPA, PUD reviews involving citizens, 
Planning Commission, City Council comment, review invalidation and appeal of CDS 
PUD recommendations by local citizens without prejudicial appeal and expensive 
litigation. SEPA requires a transparent threshold determination to assess whether a 
project will have significant environmental impacts (WAC 197-11-330). This standard is 
supported by the Washington Supreme Court precedent in Zehring v. Bellevue, 99 
Wn.2d 488 (1983), which established the "disinterested person" test for determining 
the appearance of fairness. The proposed changes compromise this process if the 
Hearing Examiner's decisions are not subject to adequate public scrutiny and appeal 
mechanisms. 

2. City of Blaine City Council Conflicts of Interest. Despite repeated public comment 
requests of the city attorney and City council to publish a Code of Conduct, Duty of Care or 
Code of Ethics standards, the City of Blaine and City Council have chosen not to 
publish or be accountable to a Code of Ethics. Since the City of Blaine has no Code 
of Ethics, the City does not require or enforce its council members and planning 
commission members to disclose any potential conflicts of interest. There is no 
evidence of council members consulting with city attorney to determine whether 
recusal is necessary. This did not happen on three vital matters of public safety in the 
CARA watershed for the East Maple Ridge PUD, the Zoning Text Amendment change for 
Creekside, and most recently the Mott’s Hill Landing PUD submission. 

3. Failure to publish, allow for and make Citizen comments and Public Hearings 
timely and accessible. 
The current mayor prohibits oral comment on PUD hearings and the City of Blaine does 
not publish public comments to PUDs on its websites timely (within 30 days) and visibly 
for all citizens to easily find, review and attend hearings in public. Frequently, the City 
of Blaine does not provide sufficient advance notice for hearings of 15 days or more for 
citizen participation. The City of Blaine does not have a policy for providing equal time 
for proponents and opponents in quasi-judicial hearings. The City does not respond in 
writing to public comments and submission of written materials in public hearings and 
city council meetings. The City does not respond to FOIA requests promptly claiming 
insufficient resources (a request for response was submitted to the city to explain why 
and the city never responded). Evidence is available to share with state and federal 
regulatory officials in follow up meetings. 
Two cases highlight the importance of procedural fairness and impartiality in quasi-
judicial hearings. The Amendments violate legal precedent for such fairness in the state 
of Washington. 

• Smith v. Skagit County: The court invalidated local land use regulatory actions 
because the hearings appeared unfair, or public officials with apparently 
improper motives or biases failed to disqualify themselves from the decision-
making process. 

• Chrobuck v. Snohomish County: The court emphasized that circumstances or 
occurrences that undermine public confidence in the exercise of zoning power 
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must be scrutinized with care to eliminate actual bias, prejudice, improper 
influence, or favoritism. 

4. Concentration of Decision-Making Power without Citizen Oversight. Blaine's use of the 
Hearing Examiner for Type II and Amendments concentrates decision-making power 
with a single Hearing Examiner who is influenced by the developer-centered PUD 
submissions that are not fact checked for falsehoods and inaccurate statements (as was 
recently discovered in the Mott’s Hill PUD filing a CARA). This violates the appearance 
of the fairness standard established in Washington law. 

5. Violation of Public Hearings and Comment (RCW 36.70B.110) Reduced Public 
Participation: By reducing the number of public hearings and opportunities for public input, 
the proposed Amendments and the Type II Hearing Examiner process undermine the 
principles of transparency and public participation that are fundamental to the 
Appearance of Fairness Doctrine. 
III. Claim 2- Against the City of Blaine Amendment: Intent by City of Blaine, City 

Attorney to undermine Citizen Rights of Appeal and Public Comment 
The City of Blaine's proposed Amendments violate the Washington State Constitution, 
specifically Article II, Sections 1 and 9, which grant citizens the power of initiative and 
referendum. These constitutional provisions ensure that the legislative authority of the 
state is vested in the legislature, but also reserve to the people the power to propose 
and enact laws independently of the legislature, as well as to approve or reject laws 
passed by the legislature. 
Constitutional and Legal Framework 
1. Article II, Section 1: This section explicitly reserves to the people the power to 

propose bills, and laws, and to enact or reject the same at the polls, independent of 
the legislature. It also allows for the approval or rejection of any act, item, section, 
or part of any bill, act, or law passed by the legislature. 

2. Article II, Section 9: This section ensures that the right of petition and the people 
peaceably to assemble for the common good shall never be abridged. It underscores 
the importance of public participation in the legislative process. 

3. Violations by the City of Blaine 
The proposed Amendments by the City of Blaine undermine these constitutional rights 
by concentrating decision-making power with the Hearing Examiner, a quasi-judicial 
process controlled by city officials. This process effectively disenfranchises citizens by 
limiting their ability to influence significant land use decisions, including Planned Unit 
Developments (PUDs) and developments in Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas (CARAs). 

4. Lack of Public Oversight and Accountability: The Hearing Examiner process minimizes 
public input and oversight, contrary to the principles of transparency and accountability 
enshrined in the state constitution. By bypassing elected City Council members and the 
Planning Commission, the city consolidates power away from the public. 

5. Historical Disregard for Public Opposition: The city's history, such as the 2021 zoning 
text amendment for East Harbor Hills (dba Creekside), demonstrates a pattern of 
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water quality, connected surface water impact on salmon runs, disturbance in 
known CARA areas, groundwater contamination, wetlands extant and habitat 
disruption. For example, the SEPA checklist submitted by East Harbor Hills, LLC, for 
the Zoning Text Amendment is grossly inadequate, lacking in detail, thoroughness, 
and adherence to DOE best practice standards for environmental checklists 
(evidence previously submitted to US Army Corps of Engineers and available upon 
request). The City of Blaine's Planning Agency's acceptance and approval of this 
checklist reflects a dereliction of duty and disregard for environmental protection 
and public welfare. The implications of this negligence are a continuing pattern, 
including the recent 9-month haphazard review of the Motts Hill PUD application in 
the Blaine CARA (documented in a letter sent to the Department of Health). This 
pattern of failed SEPA agency oversight in Blaine has and is leading to significant 
degradation of the safety of our public water supply, unnecessary public health risks, 
and erosion of public trust in the decision-making process at the City of Blaine. 
Immediate corrective actions must be taken to ensure rigorous, transparent, and 
comprehensive environmental assessments for all future projects, especially those 
in sensitive areas like the Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas (CARA). These deficiencies 
illustrate a systemic issue in how the City conducts its environmental reviews, 
contradicting WAC 197-11 requirements for comprehensive and meaningful public 
participation. 

VI. Claim 5 - Against the City of Blaine BMC Amendment: Violations of the Revised 
Code of Washington (RCW) 

1. Open Public Meetings Act (OPMA): The proposed Amendments raise concerns 
about compliance with the OPMA (RCW 42.30), which guarantees public access to 
meetings where decisions affecting the public are made. By concentrating decision-
making power under a Hearing Examiner, the amendments may limit transparency 
and public scrutiny of development approvals. 

2. Growth Management Act (GMA): Blaine's comprehensive plan, as mandated by the 
GMA (RCW 36.70A), aims to balance growth with environmental protection. The 
proposed Amendments, by expediting development approvals and potentially 
sidelining environmental considerations, undermine the GMA's goals and threaten 
the long-term sustainability of the region. Inherently missing from the City’s GMA 
process is the GMA’s criteria for “early, continuous and inclusive public involvement 
through the planning process.” 

VII. Claim 6 - Against the City of Blaine BMC Amendment: Environmental Justice 
and Civil Rights Violations; Financial Barriers to Citizens Introduced by 
Amendment. Violation of EPA Guidelines on Public Participation 
Washington State law (RCW 36.70B.060) provides mechanisms for citizens to appeal 
land use decisions. However, the proposed Amendments impose costly litigation in 
superior court, creating financial barriers that disproportionately impact low-income 
and fixed- income residents. This effectively limits access to justice and undermines 
the principle of equal access to justice and civil rights, as guaranteedby Title VI of 



35 

 
 
RE:  Amended Complaint (June 3, 2024) Complaint Filed with the OECRC and Against the City of 
Blaine Whatcom County, and State of Washington Department of Ecology 

 

the Civil Rights Act. These financial barriers prevent effective participation in the 
appeal process, thereby compromising public health, clean drinking water, and civil 
rights. 
1. Limited Access to Justice: 
The Type II Hearing Examiner Process and Amendment concentrate decision-making 
authority and increase the financial burden of appealing decisions, creating barriers 
to justice for low-income, fixed-income residents and marginalizedcommunities. 
This violates fundamental principles of fairness and equal protection under the law. 
a. Financial Barriers: The current cost for a citizen to appeal a City of Blaine Type 

II or Type III PUD decision is $1,500, as per the Unified Fee Schedule (Resolution 
1873-22). The cost of appealing the Hearing Examiner’s decision at the superior 
court level can exceed $25,000. This high cost of legal representation and filing 
fees excludes disadvantaged citizens from meaningful participation and 
representative democracy. 

b. History of Non-Cooperation, Limited Access to Information and Resources: 
City of Blaine low income, fixed income and citizens in general often lack the 
resources to navigate the complex legal and technical processes introduced by 
the City of Blaine's Community Development Services (CDS) department and 
the City Attorney's office. 
The City prevents access to its CDS PUD filings underway (Creekside) on-site 
and does not answer incoming phone call questions about water safety and 
testing results Instead it requires citizens to file FOIA requests for basic health 
and safety information, creating a burden of proof and additional 
administrative work for residents in the community (Harpier Gandhi, Public 
Works Manager, 5.31.2024, more examples available upon request) 

2. Environmental Injustice: 
a. The current PUD public comment process and Amendments fail to 

adequately consider the cumulative impacts on vulnerable communities, 
particularly regarding Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas (CARA) and the 
protection of the water aquifer for sufficient potable water supplies. 
These supplies are now threatened by changes in climate, disturbance of 
hydrological cycles, and impacts on groundwater migration to wellhead 
protection areas. For example, the City has NOT issued an EIS SEPA 
determination in the past 15 years for development in the CARA and 
refuses to do so, despite multiple public submissions and comments and 
best practice guidelines from the Department of Ecology, doubling of 
population in 3 years and insufficient infrastructure to handle water 
treatment and burden of proof that the CARA aquifer, watershed, salmon-
bearing streams and Drayton Harbor will not be impacted by 
development. 

b. Current Public Hearing Examiner Processes fail to adequately consider 
the cumulative impacts on vulnerable communities, particularly 
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regarding Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas (CARA) and the protection of 
the water aquifer for sufficient potable water supplies. These supplies are 
now threatened by changes in climate, disturbance of hydrological cycles, 
and impacts on groundwater migration to wellhead protection areas. 

c. Disparate Impact: The proposed Amendments disproportionately 
impact low- income residents and communities of color, who often 
bear the brunt of environmental degradation. For example, several 
citizens on fixed and low incomes attempted to appeal the Zoning Text 
amendment for high-density manufactured homes on the city's major 
drinking water aquifer CARA (East Harbor Hills, dba Creekside) after 
conflicts of interest, incorrect SEPA determination, incomplete 
environmental checklists and alleged ex parte communications 
between CDS and the developer. 

d. Violation of EPA Guidelines: The EPA's guidelines on public participation 
emphasize fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people, 
regardless of race, color, national origin, or income. By limiting public 
participation and making it financially impossible for low and fixed income 
citizens to appeal decisions that impact the CARA aquifer, watershed and 
other PUDs, the proposed amendments disproportionately impact 
marginalized communities, violating principles of environmental justice. 
These Amendment changes the requirement to use an expensive, Hearing 
Examiner, Superior Court or Growth Management Board process where 
the City can use asymmetrical legal resources against its disadvantaged 
citizens to exacerbate existing inequalities and fail to ensure equal 
opportunity for all community members in public health and 
environmental decision-making processes. 

In summary, the financial barriers to appealing decisions in superior court 
discriminate against these communities, undermining the principle of equal access 
to justice and civil rights, as guaranteed by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act. By 
centralizing decision-making authority and reducing public participation 
opportunities, the Amendments effectively silence marginalized communities and 
deny them their right to a fair and impartial hearing. 

VIII. Claims for Relief Sought 
In light of the foregoing legal arguments and the substantial public interest at stake, we 
respectfully request the following relief: 
1) Disband the hearing examiner process immediately for Type II PUDs since they 

disadvantage citizens who cannot afford the exorbitant costs of appeal in Superior Court 
or Growth Management Board Hearings. Type II hearings with hearing examiner 
determinations should be replaced by appeal mechanisms that allow for environmental 
justice such as 
a) Option 1 – establish state-funded arbitration with independently, appointed 

arbitrators who do not have conflicts of interest, or financial ties related to the 
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parties. There is no cost to disadvantagedcitizens. Arbiters have the authority to 
impose penalties on city governments for violating laws mentioned herein and 
overturn PUD decisions at the local city level. 

b) Option 2 - Form a state review panel from existing DOH, DOE, and environmental 
justice committees from outside Whatcom County to oversee and ensure 
compliance with civil rights and environmental laws. This panel would have the 
authority to impose penalties on city governments that violate laws mentioned 
herein in this document and overturn PUD decisions on the local city level through 
a hearing and arbitration process at no cost to disadvantaged citizens. 

c) Option 3 – Subject All CARA and CRA situated Development Proposals to Type III-
LEG Decisions: 
i) Action: All development proposals impacting Critical Aquifer Recharge Areas 

(CARAs) must be assigned Type III-LEG, allowing for public votes through 
initiatives or referendums. This process aligns with best practices in other 
Washington cities, such as Seattle and Bellingham, where public participation is 
integral to land use decisions. Current PUD examples from CDS that apply include 
Avista, Creekside (this week), and Mott’s Hill. 

ii) Responsible Party: EPA, Department of Ecology. The City of Blaine and the City 
Attorney will not modify the Hearing Examiner process unless compelled to do 
so by state and federal authorities. 

iii) Legal Code: RCW 36.70A (Growth Management Act), RCW 43.21C (SEPA) 
d) Option 4 - Continue as is. Not desirable and discriminatory. At a minimum; 

i) Public Disclosure of Hearing Examiner's Financial Ties: 
(1) Action: Before any hearings, compelthe City of Blaine to submit full disclosure 

of any financial or professional relationships the Hearing Examiner has with 
developers, city officials, or other stakeholders who may have an interest in 
land use decisions before any public hearings. 

(2) Responsible Party: State Attorney General, Hearing Examiner Board 
(3) Legal Code: RCW 42.36.060 (Appearance of Fairness doctrine 2) EPA 

Investigation: 
a) Action: Initiate a thorough investigation into the City of Blaine's Type II PUD process 

and the proposed Amendments to BMC 17 to determine compliance with federal 
environmental laws and civil rights protections. 

b) Responsible Party: Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Department of Ecology 
c) Legal Code: Clean Water Act, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

3) WSHRC Intervention: 
a) Action: Evaluate whether the city's actions violate state civil rights laws or 

disproportionately impact marginalized communities, including low and fixed-
income citizens. 
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b) Responsible Party: Washington State Human Rights Commission (WSHRC) 
c) Legal Code: RCW 49.60 (Washington Law Against Discrimination) 

4) Declaratory and Injunctive Relief: 
a) Action: Declare the proposed Amendments and Type II PUD process as invalid and 

unenforceable due to violations of SEPA, WAC, RCW, and civil rights laws. Prevent 
the City of Blaine from proceeding with these amendments until compliance is 
achieved. 

b) Responsible Party: State of Washington Attorney General, Washington State Human 
Rights Commission (WSHRC), Department of Ecology 

c) Legal Code: RCW 43.21C (SEPA), RCW 36.70A (Growth Management Act), Title VIof 
the Civil Rights Act 

5) Declaratory Judgment: 
a) Action: Declare that the proposed Amendments violate SEPA, RCW, civil rights, and 

federal EPA guidelines. Stop approval of Amendments until third-party, 
disinterested party investigation of violations is concluded. 

b) Responsible Party: State of Washington Attorney General, Washington State Human 
Rights Commission (WSHRC), Department of Ecology 

c) Legal Code: RCW 43.21C (SEPA), Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 
6) Mandate EIS for CRA or CARA PUDs and Long Divisions: 

a) Action: Require all PUDs and long divisions impacting water treatment, drinking 
water sufficiency, generative water capacity, CARA, connected surface waters, and 
climate sustainability to be subject to EIS determination with DOE oversight before 
any SEPA determinations are made by the City of Blaine Planning Department (CDS). 

b) Responsible Party: City of Blaine, Department of Ecology (DOE) 
c) Legal Code: RCW 43.21C (SEPA), WAC 197-11, RCW 36.70A (Growth Management Act) 

7) Restore Public Participation and City Referendums: 
a) Action: Reinstate multiple layers of public review; reinstitute City of Blaine Planning 

Commission veto and voting powers (Type II-PC) of PUDs, city referendums for zone 
text amendment changes, public hearings, and ensure timely publication of citizen 
comments and responses. Enable citizen voting referendums on CARA and CRA land 
use decisions. 

b) Responsible Party: State of Washington Attorney General Oversight for the City of Blaine. 
c) Legal Code: RCW 36.70B.110 (Public Participation Requirements) 

8) Adopt Clear Conflict of Interest Policies and Code of Ethics 
a) Action: Implement clear conflict of interest policies for the Hearing Examiner, City 

Council, Planning Commission, and City employees. Adopt a Code of Ethics and 
Standards of Conduct for the City Council. 

b) Responsible Party: City of Blaine 
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c) Legal Code: RCW 42.36 (Appearance of Fairness Doctrine), RCW 42.23 (Code of 
Ethics for Municipal Officers should be applied to Blaine city officials and city council 
based on previously filed claims of public misconduct) 

VIII. Conclusion 
The City of Blaine's current Hearing Examiner Process for Public Hearings and the proposed 
Amendments to BMC 17 represent a significant undermining of public health safety, CARA, 
US Waterway and Shoreline protections, public participation, and civil rights. We urge the 
respective State of Washington Attorney Generals, EPA, WSHRC, and DOE to take swift 
action to investigate the City of Blaine’s public hearing and appeal process and request that 
legal and compliance actions be taken to redress the discriminatory practices at the City of 
Blaine, its Planning Department - CDS and City Council. This helps the interests of Blaine's 
residents, marginalized communities, and the public safety of our water supply and 
environment. We stand ready to cooperate fully with your agencies in this matter and to 
provide substantial, 2000 hours of documentation supporting the concerns made herein. 
Sincerely, 

 et al. 
CDR  USN [RET.], County resident in the CARA 
watershed CDR  [RET.], County resident in the 
CARA watershed  City of Blaine resident 

 
 
Disclaimer 
This letter is a public interest statement protected under the Anti-SLAPP Act, raising 
genuine concerns about potential violations of state law and public policies by the City of 
Blaine. It is not intended to disrupt City of Blaine Operations but to ensure public health 
and safety. 

 
cc: 
Washington Department of Health 
Washington State Department of 
Ecology Washington State 
Department Fish & Wildlife US Army 
Corps of Engineers 
Whatcom County Natural Resources & Water Quality 
State Representatives: Alicia Rule, Sharon Shewmake, Joe Timmons 
Whatcom County Drought Contingency Plan Task Force 
Mike Harmon, City Manager, City of 
Blaine Blaine City Council 
City of Blaine Planning Commission 

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)

(b) (6), (b) (7)(C)

(b)(6) Privacy, (b)(7)(C) Enf. Privacy
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Alex Wegner, Mike Beck, City of Blaine Community Development Services 
Honorable Phil Olbrechts, Hearing Examiner, City of Blaine 
 
Enclosures: 
• Copy of Blaine Municipal Code (BMC) 17 
• Copy of proposed Amendments to BMC 17 
• Copy of City of Blaine's Determination of Non-significance (DNS) 
• The City of Vancouver Fairness Doctrine 
• Appendix A: City of Blaine Failure in SEPA Determination (Zone Text Amendment) 
• Appendix B: Comparison of WA State City Hearing Examiner Oversight Practices 
• Appendix C: City of Blaine Hearing Examiner process 
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Appendix A: City of Blaine Failure in SEPA Determination (Zone Text 
Amendment) Statement of Fact 
1) Stacy Clauson, formerly the City Planner of Blaine, WA (replaced by Alex 
Wegner), is well- versed and trained in SEPA regulations, determinations, and 
environmental impact statements, as evidenced by her training and employment profile 
with the City of Blaine. 
2) The City of Blaine Community Services Department is highly familiar with and 
responsible for implementing guidelines from the Department of Ecology. 
3) The Mobile Home Park (MHP) Zone Text Amendment is a significant 
development in a CARA watershed with substantial environmental impacts. 
4) The City of Blaine’s SEPA policies and procedures mandate that an EIS be prepared 
for projects with likely significant environmental impacts. 
5) Clauson approved the Zone Text Amendment with a SEPA DNS determination, 
fully understanding the Blaine Watershed’s CRA and CARA status and the implications 
under SEPA. 
6) Clauson was fully aware of the CRA and CARA designation in the Blaine 
Watershed, a fact evident in her emails, documentation, and queries regarding this 
project. 
7) This DNS determination represents a clear departure from standard 
procedures and obligations mandated by the Washington State Department of 
Ecology for significant 
environmental impact reviews ("Determining if SEPA is required," Washington State 
Department of Ecology). 
8) At no time did City Manager Clauson, Stacie Pratschner, or Alex Wegner respond 
to public inquiries about the text amendment change's impact and the proposed 
development in the Blaine Watershed CRA. 
9) Contrary to the Open Meetings Act, the Mayor and City Council did not allow 
responses to questions during the 15-month public hearing about the developer's impact 
and text amendment on the Blaine Watershed area, aquifer impact, city water capacity, 
and water treatment. 
10) During the 15 months, the City of Blaine and City Council did not address in public 
comments and hearings the cumulative impact of MHP[ what is this?], Grandis Pond, and 
other city- approved development projects like Maple Ridge on the City of Blaine's water 
treatment and generative capacity, storage, and wellhead protection, including the Blaine 
Watershed. 

11) At no time did Alex Wegner, Stacie Pratschner, or Mike Harmon inform the city 
council before the voting decision that an environmental impact assessment was 
required for a CARA or CRA. 
12) The City Council approved the text amendment on October 23, 2023, without 
knowledge of an environmental impact statement’s results. 
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Factual Allegations 
1) The City of Blaine planners for the East Maple Ridge and the Zone Text 
Amendment knew the projects were likely to have significant environmental 
impacts on the CARA watershed but made a false SEPA determination stating the 
project would not have significant impacts. 
2) This false SEPA determination to avoid preparing an EIS violated both SEPA 
and the City of Blaine's policies and procedures (Washington State 
Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), RCW 43.21C). 
3) Clauson’s decision to classify the developer's SEPA checklist as a DNS and allow 
rezoning of the Blaine watershed for high-density development without the 
requisite EIS was a calculated act, violating SEPA regulations and guidelines provided 
by the Washington State Department of Ecology. 
4) This decision was not a simple oversight or planning error. It was a deliberate 
move to hasten the project approval for the developer's benefit, ignoring the legal 
requirement for an EIS where significant environmental impact is anticipated, as 
outlined in the lead agency determination guidelines by the Washington State 
Department of Ecology. 
5) Clauson, in collaboration with her supervisor, Stacie Pratschner, and 
potentially with the knowledge of Mike Harmon, the City Manager, intentionally 
bypassed the EIS requirement by submitting a DNS for a high-density 
manufactured home development project (formerly East Harbor Hills, now 
called Creekside) in a critical watershed area. 
6) The Washington State Department of Ecology emphasizes the need for 
consistent and responsible decision-making in SEPA determinations, which 
was neglected in this case. 
7) The planner's actions violated both specific standards set forth by SEPA and the 
ethical and professional standards expected of public officials, as per general 
principles of public service and environmental stewardship. 
8) The false SEPA determination by the City of Blaine planner led to the City 
Council's text amendment vote proceeding without an EIS, violating SEPA and 
disregarding the potential EIS results. 
Sources: 

[1] Determining if SEPA is required: https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations- 
Permits/SEPA/Environmental-review/SEPA-guidance/Guide-for-lead-
agencies/Determining-if- SEPA-is-required 
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[2] Lead agency determination and responsibilities: 
https://ecology.wa.gov/Regulations- Permits/SEPA/Environmental-
review/SEPA-guidance/Guide-for-lead-agencies/Lead-agency-  determination-
and-responsibilities [ 
3] State Environmental Policy Act - Benton County WA: 
https://www.co.benton.wa.us/pview.aspx?id=1415 

Case Law 
The oversight of the DNS issuance by Stacy Clauson is contradicted by the 
precedent set in the aforementioned cases. The requirement for a reasoned 
explanation, consideration of cumulative impacts, and the standard of arbitrary 
and capricious review strongly support the claim that the DNS issuance was a 
deliberate act of misconduct. 

1) The Department of Ecology emphasizes consistent and responsible 
SEPA determinations. The actions, in this case, deviate significantly from 
these standards, as highlighted by the cases cited [3: 
https://ecology.wa.gov/regulations- permits/sepa/environmental-
review/sepa-guidance/sepa-faq]. 
2) Washington Court of Appeals case of West 514, Inc. v. County of 
Spokane [6: https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/] 

This case established that the standard of review for SEPA appeals is "whether 
the agency's decision was arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly unreasonable." 
This means that the court will only overturn a SEPA decision if it finds that the 
agency did not consider all of the relevant evidence or that its decision was 
based on an error of law. The actions of Clauson, Pratschner, and potentially 
Harmon in issuing a DNS without proper consideration of significant 
environmental impacts fall within this standard, suggesting an arbitrary and 
capricious decision-making process [6: 
https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/]. 

3) Shorelines Hearings Board case of Save the Peninsula v. Pierce 
County [3: https://mrsc.org/explore-topics/environment] 

This case held that an agency must consider the cumulative impacts of a 
proposed project when making its SEPA determination. This means that the 
agency must consider not only the impacts of the proposed project itself, but 
also the impacts of other past, present, and 
reasonably foreseeable projects in the area. 

4) King County Superior Court case of Concerned Neighbors of 
Skykomish v. Skykomish Community Council [4: 
https://directory.kingcounty.gov/GroupDetail.asp?GroupID=3083
1] 

This case held that an agency must provide a "reasoned explanation" for its 
SEPA determination. This means that the agency must explain its decision in a 
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way that is clear, concise, and understandable to the public. The lack of a clear, 
concise, and understandable explanation for the DNS issuance in this instance 
suggests a breach of this legal requirement [4: 
https://directory.kingcounty.gov/GroupDetail.asp?GroupID=30831]. 

5) Save the Peninsula v. Pierce County: According to this case, an agency 
must consider cumulative impacts in its SEPA determination. Clauson and 
Pratschner failed to do so, indicating neglect of their duty to assess the 
broader environmental implications of the proposed project [3: 
https://mrsc.org/explore-topics/environment]. 
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Appendix B: Comparison of WA State City Hearing Examiner Oversight Practices 
 

 
City 

 
Population 

 
Relevant Code Sections 

 
Permit Approval Process 

 
Hearing Examiner Role 

 
 
 
 
 

Yakima 

 
 
 
 
 

96,968 

 
 
 
 

Title 15 (Yakima Urban 
Area Zoning Ordinance) 

 
Permit applications and 
plans may be submitted 
digitally or in person. 
Building permits require 
plan review. 

 
 

No specific mention o  
Hearing Examiner for 
subdivisions or site 
plans. 

 
 
 

Bellingham 

 
 
 

91,353 

 
 
 

Title 20 (Land Use Code) 

 
Uses a Planning 
Commission for major 
land use decisions. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
handles appeals and 
some specific cases. 

 
 
 

Kennewick 

 
 
 

83,823 

 
 
 

Title 18 (Zoning Code) 

 
 

Planning Commission 
reviews major projects. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
reviews variances and 
appeals. 

 
 
 

Marysville 

 
 
 

70,714 

 
 

Title 22 (Unified 
Development Code) 

 
Planning Commission 
and City Council review 
major projects. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
reviews variances and 
appeals. 

 
 
 

Lacey 

 
 
 

56,263 

 
 
 

Title 16 (Land Use Code) 

 
 

Planning Commission 
reviews major projects. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
reviews variances and 
appeals. 

 
 
 

Pullman 

 
 
 

31,972 

 
 
 

Title 17 (Zoning Code) 

 
 

Planning Commission 
reviews major projects. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
reviews variances and 
appeals. 
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City 

 
Population 

 
Relevant Code Sections 

 
Permit Approval Process 

 
Hearing Examiner Role 

 
 
 

SeaTac 

 
 
 

30,927 

 
 
 

Title 15 (Zoning Code) 

 
 

Planning Commission 
reviews major projects. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
reviews variances and 
appeals. 

 
 
 

Sunnyside 

 
 
 

16,375 

 
 
 

Title 17 (Zoning Code) 

 
 

Planning Commission 
reviews major projects. 

 
Hearing Examiner 
reviews variances and 
appeals. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Blaine 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5,000 

 
 
 
 
 

BMC 17 (Land Use and 
Development) 

 
A proposed change is to 
have Hearing Examiner 
review long subdivisions, 
binding site plans, and 
planned unit 
developments. 

 
 
 

Proposed to take on a 
more significant role  
reviewing and making 
determinations. 
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Appendix C: City of Blaine Hearing 
Examiner process Types of Examiner Hearings in the City of 
Blaine, WA 
The City of Blaine categorizes land use decisions into three main types: Type I, Type II, and 
Type III. 
Each type has specific procedures and authorities involved in the decision-making process. 

 
Type I - Administrative Decisions (Type I-ADM) 
Description: These are administrative decisions made by the Director of 
Community Development Services or other designated city officials. 
Examples: Building permits, administrative interpretations, concurrency 
reviews, site plan reviews, and building variances. 
Public Involvement: Limited public involvement; decisions are typically made based on 
submitted applications and compliance with existing codes. 
Appeals: Appeals of Type I decisions are made to the Hearing Examiner. 

 
Type II - Quasi-Judicial Decisions 
Description: These decisions are quasi-judicial and involve a more formal 
review process, including public hearings. 
Subcategories: 
• Type II-HE: Decisions made by the Hearing Examiner. 
• Type II-PC: Decisions made by the Planning Commission. 
• Type II-CC: Decisions made by the City Council. 
Examples: Conditional use permits, shoreline substantial development 
permits, shoreline conditional use permits, shoreline variances, and project 
permits requiring a variance. 
Public Involvement: Public hearings are held, and there is an opportunity for public 
comment. Appeals: Appeals of Type II decisions can be made to the Whatcom 
County Superior Court. 

 
Type III - Legislative Decisions (Type III-LEG) 
Description: These are legislative decisions made by the City Council and are 
not subject to the quasi-judicial review procedures. 
Examples: Amendments to the comprehensive plan, zoning code 
amendments, and other legislative actions. 
Public Involvement: Public hearings are held, and there is a significant opportunity for 
public 
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Appeals: Legislative decisions are not typically subject to appeal through the same 
processes as quasi-judicial decisions. Citizens may use initiatives and referendums 
to propose new legislation or challenge existing legislative decisions. 

 
Public Involvement and Rights 
Public Vote and Overturning Decisions 
Type III-LEG: Under this type, the public has the strongest ability to influence 
decisions through the legislative process. Citizens can potentially use initiatives 
and referendums to propose new legislation or challenge existing legislative 
decisions. This process allows the public to put issues to a vote and potentially 
overturn decisions made by the City Council. 
Strongest Rights Without Superior Court 
Type II-HE: Citizens have significant rights under Type II-HE decisions, which 
involve the Hearing Examiner. These decisions include public hearings where 
citizens can present their views and 
evidence. The Hearing Examiner's decisions can be appealed to the Whatcom 
County Superior Court, but the initial hearing process provides a robust platform 
for citizen involvement without immediately resorting to higher courts. 
Summary 
• Type I-ADM: Administrative decisions with limited public involvement; 
appeals go to the Hearing Examiner. 
• Type II-HE/PC/CC: Quasi-judicial decisions with public hearings; 
appeals go to the Superior Court. 
• Type III-LEG: Legislative decisions with significant public involvement; issues can be put 

to 
a public vote through initiatives and referendums. 

 
For citizens seeking to overturn a decision or have the strongest rights 
without going to the Superior Court, participating in Type II-HE hearings 
provides a substantial opportunity for involvement and influence. For broader 
legislative changes, Type III-LEG processes allow for public votes and 
referendums. 
Existence and Usage of Type III-LEG in Blaine, WA 
Type III-LEG (Legislative Decisions) still exists in Blaine, WA. This type of decision is 
used for legislative actions such as amendments to the zoning code or 
comprehensive plan. According to the Blaine Municipal Code, Type III-LEG 
decisions are legislative actions that involve public hearings and are ultimately 
decided by the City Council. Last Usage: 
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The last documented use of a Type III-LEG decision in Blaine was for a zoning text 
amendment related to work/live units in the Manufacturing Subzone B. This 
process involved public hearings and recommendations by the Planning 
Commission before a final decision by the City Council. 






